DA 5-4-98

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 91,424



CLERK, SUPPLIES COURT By Charl Daguery Clerk

AVATAR DEVELOPMENT CORP. and AMIKAM TANEL,

Petitioners.

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Respondent,

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal Of A Petition For Review From The Fourth District Court of Appeal

Theodore Klein, Esq. Bierman & Shohat 800 Brickell Avenue, Penthouse #2 Miami, Florida 33131 (305)358-7000

and

John H. Pelzer, Esq. $\sqrt{|Samuel S. Fields, Esq.}$ Daniella Friedman, Esq. RUDEN, McCLOSKY, SMITH SCHUSTER & RUSSELL, P.A. 200 East Broward Boulevard, 15th Floor Post Office Box 1900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (954)764-6660; Miami (305)789-2700

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On January 18, 1994, the DEP issued a permit authorizing Avatar to conduct dredge and fill operations in Broward County, Florida. App.1. The permit contains specific condition 3, which states:

At least 48 hours prior to commencement of work authorized by this permit, the permittee shall notify the Department of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Wetland Resource Management in Tallahassee, and the Southeast District District [sic] office in West Palm Beach, in writing of this commencement.

App.1. The permit also contains specific condition 5, which states:

Prior to the commencement of any construction authorized by this permit, floating turbidity curtains with weighted skirts extending to the bottom of the man-made canals shall properly installed around the shoreline stabilization areas and all areas to dredged and filled, to isolate adjacent waters from the work area . . . The floating turbidity curtains shall remain in place, be inspected daily and be maintained in good working order until all the authorized work is complete, and turbidity levels in the project area are within 29 NTU's of background levels.

App.1.

On November 28, 1995, the State charged Avatar and Tanel by information with two first degree misdemeanors for wilfully violating specific conditions 3 and 5 of the permit. App.2.

Count I charged that Avatar and Tanel violated specific condition 3 by wilfully failing to provide written notice to the DEP at least 48 hours before beginning the work authorized by the permit and by wilfully failing to employ turbidity curtains before beginning the work authorized by the permit in violation of § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat. App.2. Count II charged that Avatar and Tanel violated specific condition 5 by failing to employ turbidity curtains in violation of § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat. App.2. The information charged that Avatar and Tanel's violations of the permit were first degree misdemeanors pursuant to § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat. App.2.

Section 403.161(1)(b) provides in pertinent part:

- (1) It shall be a violation of this chapter, and it shall be prohibited for any person:
- (b) to violate or fail to comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority.

Section 403.161(5), Fla. Stat., provides in pertinent part:

Any person who wilfully commits a violation specified in paragraph 1(b) . . . is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree punishable as provided in ss. 775.082(4)(a) and 775.083(1)(g) by a fine of not more than \$10,000 or by 6 months in jail, or by both for each offense.

The trial court dismissed the information against Avatar and Tanel on the grounds that §§ 403.161(1)(b) and 403.161(5) Fla. Stat., violate Art.I, § 18, and Art.II, § 3, Fla. Const., because they unconstitutionally delegate to an administrative agency the power to define a crime. App.3. The trial court also dismissed the information on the grounds that §§ 403.161(1)(b) and 403.161(5), Fla. Stat., violated Avatar and Tanel's due process rights because the acts prohibited by the statutes do not appear on the face of the statutes. App.3. The trial court then certified the following question to the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

Are Florida Statutes § 403.161(1)(b) or § 403.161(5) unconstitutional as charged in the information?

App.3.

On July 16, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's decision, expressly finding the challenged statutes to be constitutional. App.4. On August 19, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied Avatar's motion for rehearing. App.5. On September 11, 1997, Avatar and Tanel filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On December 19, 1996, this Court accepted jurisdiction. App.6. This appeal follows.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 403.161, Fla. Stat., provides that wilfully violating or failing "to comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority" is a crime. Thereby, by a process of delegation, the statute transforms each and every rule, regulation, order, permit or certification adopted or issued by the DEP into a criminal statute.

The Florida Legislature may not delegate to an agency the power to determine the elements of a crime. The power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch. Delegation of such power is unconstitutional because it violates the principle of separation of powers, which is codified in Art. II, § 3 of the Florida Constitution.

The fact that the DEP is aided by broad legislative guidelines in the decision whether to grant individual permits does not permit it to define the elements of a criminal offense under Florida's Constitution. This is because the Florida Constitution mandates a strict separation of powers unlike the U.S. Constitution. Such a strict construction of Art. II, § 3 of the Florida Constitution applies with greatest force to criminal statutes, which carry with

them a sense of moral approbation, and implicate the prohibition of Art. I, § 18.

Because DEP performs its delegated function through the issuance of individualized permits, the process runs afoul of yet another constitutional prohibition. Art. III, § 11(a)(4) prohibits special laws defining criminal conduct. Because each permit relates to particular permitees and a particular project, it is in effect a special law, and may not define criminal conduct. Because the legislature cannot create a crime by a special law, it certainly cannot delegate the power to do so to an agency.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT § 403.161, FLA. STAT. (1993), IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE LEGISLATURE HAS IMPROPERLY DELEGATED TO AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY THE POWER TO DETERMINE THE ELEMENTS OF A CRIME IN VIOLATION OF ART I, § 18 AND ART. II, § 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Florida Legislature may not delegate to the DEP the power to determine the elements of a crime. "The power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch." Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991) (citations omitted). Accordingly, § 403.161, Fla. Stat., which provides that any person who violates or fails to "comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority" is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, is unconstitutional as violative of Florida's nondelegation doctrine.

Florida's non-delegation doctrine is based on the principle of separation of powers, which is codified in Art. II, § 3 of the Florida Constitution as follows:

The powers of the State government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any power appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

This Court "has stated repeatedly and without exception that Florida's Constitution absolutely requires a strict separation of powers." B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 515 U.S. 1132, 115 S.Ct. 2559 (1995). Florida has rejected arguments of expediency or necessity or any penumbra theory in setting limits on the separation of powers doctrine. Id. at 992. Indeed, Florida has explicitly rejected the approach to the non-delegation doctrine adopted by the federal courts and some states, which focuses on procedural safeguards in the administrative process, in favor of a purely textual analysis of the Florida Constitution. Id.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal improperly relied on Bailey v. Van Pelt, 78 Fla. 337, 82 So. 789 (Fla. 1919), as authority for the proposition that the DEP may define the elements of a criminal offense, because the Bailey decision relies solely on federal constitutional standards. Bailey, 82 So. at 794. These federal standards have been expressly rejected by later decisions of this Court. This Court's more recent decision in B.H. v. State seriously calls into question the continued vitality of the Bailey decision. In B.H., this Court reiterated that Florida's Constitution absolutely requires a strict separation of powers. B.H., 645 So. 2d at 991. This Court announced that "[a]ny

discussion must begin by noting several special features of the State Constitution, which we are required to honor under the doctrine of primacy notwithstanding less stringent federal law."

Moreover, the Bailey court was not required to depart from Florida's constitutional non-delegation doctrine in order to uphold the statute in that case. The particular act with which the defendant in Bailey was charged was failing and refusing to dip his cattle for tick eradication. The directive to require cattle to be dipped to meet the legislative purpose of tick eradication was expressly stated by the legislature on the face of the legislation itself, quoted at 86 So. at 792. Thus, the legislature expressly stated the legislative purpose, tick eradication, and the method by which to accomplish this purpose, by the dipping of cattle. The legislation was complete in itself, and a person could determine that refusal to dip cattle for tick eradication would be a criminal offense merely by resorting to the language of the statute itself.

Strict construction of Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const., is especially warranted in criminal cases. This Court recently noted that the "authority to define a crime . . . is of such a different magnitude from noncriminal cases that more stringent rules and greater scrutiny certainly is required." B.H., 645 So. 2d at 993.

The power to create the elements of a crime results in more serious consequences for the individual than the power to issue rules and regulations which are vested merely with civil or administrative liability. The Administrative Crime, Its Creation and Punishment by Administrative Agencies, 42 Mich. L. Rev. 51, 52 (1943). As a New York court has stated:

It is a power to take life and liberty, and all the rights of both, when the sacrifice is necessary to the peace, order, and safety to the community. This general authority is vested in the legislature, and as it is one of the most ample of their powers, its due exercise is among the highest of their duties.

Id. citing Barker v. People, 3 Cow. 686, 704 (N.Y. S.Ct. 1824).

Crimes differ from civil sanctions because they carry with them a sense of moral approbation.

What distinguishes a criminal from a civil sanction . . . is the judgment of community condemnation which accompanies and justifies its imposition. The determination of 'community condemnation' is not within the realm of administrative expertise, but rather is wholly within the province of the legislative branch.

Mark D. Alexander, Increased Judicial Scrutiny for the Administrative Crime, 77 Cornell L. Rev. 612, 615 (1992) (citations omitted). Agencies have two major virtues which the legislature lacks: special expertise and increased flexibility.

Both of these attributes lose significance when criminal regulations are implicated. An agency's expertise in determining how best to regulate an area does not apply as well in the criminal context, which traditionally reflects criminal approbation. Agencies do not have special insight into determining community values.

* * *

Declaring specific conduct so blameworthy as to deserve a criminal sanction should be possible only after running the gauntlet of political processes. . . . When criminal punishment is involved, flexibility is not a virtue.

Id. at 612, 643, 644. Accordingly, the State and DEP's reliance below on a number of cases in the civil context is misplaced. E.g. Jones v. Department of Revenue, 523 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); State v. Bender, 382 So. 2d 697, 698 (Fla. 1980) (noting that validity of the criminal statute allegedly violated was not an issue); Brown v. Appalachee Regional Planning Council, 560 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 1990); Florida Gas Transmission Company v. Public Service Commission, 635 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1994); Department of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hospital District, 483 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1983).

This Court most recently dealt with the issue of the non-delegation doctrine in a criminal context in B.H. v. State. In that case, B.H. was charged with escaping from a juvenile commitment facility in violation of § 39.061, Fla. Stat., which provided that escape from a facility of restrictiveness level VI or

above was a felony. B.H., 645 So. 2d at 989. The issue on appeal was whether the statute was facially unconstitutional as violative of the separation of powers doctrine because it left the designation of a restrictiveness level VI facility to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. Id. at 993. The First District Court of Appeal held the statute unconstitutional because it improperly delegated legislative authority to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to define the crime of juvenile escape. Id. at 990. This Court affirmed and held that the legislature's attempts to delegate the power to determine the elements of a crime to an agency was unconstitutional under Florida law. This Court stated:

[T] here is a violation of separation of powers in the attempt to give an administrative agency power to define a crime.

*Id*. at 993.

The statute in this case is an even more generous effort to give to an administrative agency the power to define a crime than was the statute in B.H. In B.H., the statute created the crime of escape from a commitment facility and merely left it to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to specify which facilities would fall under the prohibition. In this case, § 403.161(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993) makes it a crime to "violate or

fail to comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority." The DEP is not merely permitted to determine one element of a crime, as in *B.H.*, but is invited to legislate any and all crimes it might wish to create whether by rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification.

While the legislature may assign to administrative agencies certain duties involved in applying the law, the legislature may not allow agencies to create the law. On several occasions, this Court has upheld statutes wherein the legislature had set out all of the elements of the crime and merely left it to the agencies and executive officers to use their expertise to define certain terms. These distinguishable cases are the ones upon which the State and DEP relied below. See, e.g., Clark v. State, 395 So. 2d 525 (Fla. (upholding statute which prohibited the introduction of contraband into a correctional or penal institution except through regular channels and left to the prison administrator to define the meaning of "regular channels"); State v. Cumming, 365 So. 2d 153 1978) (allowing agency to specify animals which are "wildlife" which pose "a real or potential threat to human safety"); Cesin v. State, 288 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1974) (upholding statute which prohibited operating a motorcycle without a helmet

approved by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.)

Because the legislature was making all of the judgments as to the conduct to be regulated, why it was to be regulated, and how it was to be regulated, leaving to the agency only a narrow application of its technical expertise, these cases do not evoke Florida' strong constitutional prohibition against delegation of criminal law-making authority.

Other cases relied upon by the State and the DEP below are equally distinguishable. For example, in Rosslow v. State, 401 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1981), the statute involved completely defined the crime. Any transportation of citrus fruit without the appropriate certificate was unlawful. The only authority granted to the agency was in the negative, to grant exemptions. Even then, the exemptions authorized were narrow and specific, fulling expressing the legislature's policy decision in each discrete authorized exemption, with no discretion left to the agency. Id. at 1107, 1108.

Two cases interpreting the Florida Manatee Sanctuary Act are instructive. Marine Industries Association of South Florida, Inc. v. The Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 672 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); State v. Rawlins, 623 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). That statute directed the DEP to promulgate speed

limitations for boats in areas in which manatees are frequently The Legislature made all of the fundamental policy decisions, and merely left their application to the DEP. agency was told where to regulate - where manatees are frequently sighted. The agency was also told how to regulate - by imposing speed limits. The agency was not vested with the discretion of where to regulate, or how to regulate. For example, the agency could not determine that it would prevent "adverse effects" on manatees by regulating in areas where manatees are sometimes sighted, or manatees might be present. Moreover, the agency was not permitted to determine the best method of avoiding adverse effects on manatees, such as by requiring propeller guards, requiring manatee warning devices, manatee repulsion devices, manatee lookouts, less harmful propellers, or banning propellers altogether. By contrast, the statute in this case not only allows agency to determine what activities are deserving but also the best methods to accomplish that regulation, regulation. Such broad authority may not be delegated to an agency.

Unlike the statutes in those cases, § 403.161, Fla. Stat. (1993) is unconstitutional because here the legislature leaves it to the administrative agency to determine the elements of the

crime. Other than the broad, non-controversial policy protecting surface water quality, all legislative judgments are left to the DEP. Their judgments include the acceptable levels of desirable effects on surface water, the most means and methodologies to obtain or maintain those levels, the cost and analysis of each requirement or prohibition, benefit activities are de minimis and undeserving of regulation, and what activities are so disruptive that no level of regulation or mitigation will suffice. Unlike the cases cited by the State and DEP in which narrow and specific tasks were left to the agencies after the legislature made the legislative judgments, § 403.161, Fla. Stat., gives DEP carte blanche to create crimes by "rule, regulation, order, permit or certification."

Both the State and Amicus rely on the "seven prong test" of § 403.918 (now § 373.414) as the legislative criteria guiding DEP in its promulgation of criminal statutes in the form of permits. In essence, these criteria require the DEP to determine whether a project will "adversely affect" various listed considerations. This is no greater guidance to the DEP than the requirement of the statute in B.H. that the agency consider the "needs of the individual child" in assigning a child to a particular detention facility. No fundamental legislative policy decision as to what

activities to regulate and how to regulate them is contained within this broad, aspirational listing of considerations. The DEP is left with virtually unfettered legislative discretion as to the quantity or character of effects which may be acceptable, and the nature or extent of the procedures, practices or equipment necessary to avoid unacceptable effects. This delegation differs both in kind and degree from the narrow definition of scientific terms selected by the legislature, or definition of specialized things mandated or forbidden by statute.

Reliance on these guidelines to legitimize the delegation of legislative authority further misses the point, because these guidelines relate to the administrative decision of whether or not to issue a permit, not the promulgation of regulations. The only way a person could violate a rule or regulation promulgated under these guidelines would be by proceeding without a permit. This would be a direct violation of the statute, and not a mere violation of a rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification. Avatar and Tanel have not been, and could not be, charged with failure to obtain required permits. App.2.

The degree of deference which the legislature has given DEP is unnecessary as demonstrated by the facts of this case and the permit provisions which Avatar and Tanel have been charged with

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