DA 5-4-98

91424 FILED

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,424

AVATAR DEVELOPMENT CORP. and AMIKAM TANEL,

Petitioners

vs

ē,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE

FEB 16 1998

t as Original

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Review of a Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jonathan A. Glogau Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 371823 PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, ext. 4817

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

i

Respondent concurs in Petitioners' listing of interested parties.

=

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1

Respondent accepts Petitioners' statement of the case and facts.

Ŧ

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Chapter 403 (and the particular sections thereof under challenge in this appeal) are not criminal statutes for purposes of analysis under the nondelegation doctrine. This statute is a comprehensive administrative program (also including chapter 373) for protection of the environment. As relevant to this case, the chapter provides authority for a dredge and fill permitting program. Because of the importance of ensuring compliance with this program, the legislature made willful violation of, *inter alia*, permits a misdemeanor. This decision by the legislature does not transform what is clearly an administrative program into a criminal statute.

Treated as a delegation of administrative authority, chapter 403 meets the standards for a lawful delegation of authority. The standards in the statute allow this court to determine if the agency is acting within its authority. The legislature has made the fundamental policy choices leaving only implementation to the agency.

If treated as a criminal statute, chapter 403 is still a valid delegation of authority from the legislature. Even in the criminal context, there can be delegations to administrative agencies. Such flexibility is necessary in a program such as dredge and fill where each individual project requires agency expertise in

5

administration of the program. The standards for such a delegation are met by chapter 403. The legislature has made the fundamental policy decisions leaving only implementation of those policies to the agency.

This statute fully informs a permit holder what the "crime" is. *Willful* violation of the terms of a permit is a misdemeanor. There is no due process violation.

Chapter 403 does not constitute a violation of Art. III, § 11(a)(4), Fla. Const. Granting of a permit with specific conditions does not constitute the making of law in any context. If it did, Petitioners' first argument would require that the law be found unconstitutional. Since the Petitioners' first argument is unavailing, their second argument here is meritless. The granting of a permit is not the passage of a special law.

The decision of the District Court below should be AFFIRMED.

ARGUMENT

THE APPEALS COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT §§ 403.161(1)(b) AND 403.161(5), FLA. STAT., WERE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL DELEGATIONS TO AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY IN VIOLATION OF ART. I, § 18 AND ART. II, § 3, FLA. CONST.

The District Court below properly found that \S 403.161(1)(b) and

403.161(5), Fla. Stat., were not invalid delegations of authority to the Department

of Environmental Protection, holding:

We conclude that the statute in question here is comparable to that upheld in *Bailey* and distinguishable from the statute disapproved of in *B.H.* We also conclude that setting terms and conditions for a permit to dredge and fill, when authorized by a legislative program which requires attention to the unique conditions of the site, is especially suitable for determination by an administrative body. Sections 403.161(1)(b) and 403.161(5) do not unconstitutionally delegate legislative authority to an administrative agency.

State v. Avatar Development Corp., 697 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)

Chapter 403 Is an Administrative Program for the Protection of the Environment, Not a Criminal Statute

In *B.H. v. State*, 645 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994), this court suggested that there is a heightened level of scrutiny for delegations in a criminal statute, but did not articulate what that standard was. It was not necessary in *B.H.* because the court found there were **no** standards in that statute. Even if such a standard can be

found in *B.H.*, it would not apply in this case. *B.H.* involved a statute, the sole purpose of which was to define the **felony** of juvenile escape; this case involves chapter 403, Fla. Stat., clearly a statute designed to set up a regulatory structure for the protection of the environment, the willful violation of which the legislature has defined as a misdemeanor. § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat. When the purpose of the legislation is to delegate to the agency the power to define a crime, like in *B.H.*, heightened scrutiny may be appropriate. However, when the purpose of the legislation is clearly to set up a complex administrative program to accomplish valid legislative goals, the legislature can help ensure compliance with that program by making violation of the program a misdemeanor without transforming the statute into a criminal law requiring that heightened scrutiny.

In *Bailey v. Van Pelt*, 82 So. 789 (Fla. 1919), this Court was faced with a statutory scheme similar to that at issue here, and a similar claim of unconstitutionality. Chapter 7345, § 19, Laws of Florida, provided:

Any person who shall knowingly and willfully violate or fail to keep or perform any rule or regulation of said [Livestock Sanitary] board shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by a fine of not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1000), or by imprisonment not exceeding one year, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

Id. at 792. The defendant in *Bailey* was charged with failure to comply with a tick

eradication order from the Livestock Sanitary Board. Upon a writ of *habeas corpus*, the defendant claimed that the above referenced statute was an unlawful delegation of legislative power to administrative officers. *Id.* at 790. This court held:

The authority to make administrative rules is not a delegation of legislative power, nor are such rules raised from an administrative to a legislative character because the violation thereof is punished as a public offense.

Id. at 794. The legislature had set up a regulatory program and determined it to be of such importance that violation of orders of the Board were to be punished as misdemeanors. *Bailey* has never been overruled and the settled expectations over the last 80 years has been that such a decision by the Legislature was a valid delegation of authority. In reliance on those settled expectations, the legislature has numerous times created an administrative program and determined that violation of its rules would be punished as a misdemeanor. [See brief *amicus curiae* of the Department of Environmental Protection.]

Subjecting willful violators of the administrative program to misdemeanor punishment does not transform a lawful delegation of administrative power into an unlawful delegation of legislative power. The same is true in the instant case.

> The statute and not the administrative regulation defines the offense and imposes the penalty.

Id. In the instant case, it is the statute that defines the crime - violation of the permit conditions; and it is the statute that imposes the penalty - a fine of not more than \$10,000 or 6 months in jail, or both for each offense. It is the State Attorney who brings charges before a county court; the agency does not prosecute the offense before an administrative tribunal.

Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., Is a Valid Delegation of Civil Regulatory Administrative Authority

Applying the standards for delegation of legislative authority set forth in the civil case law, the provisions of chapter 403, Fla. Stat., are valid delegations of administrative authority. These standards give the DEP definitive and limited guidelines to implement the policy of the legislature through its expertise and knowledge of the environment. That policy clearly being protection of the environment from pollution, these statutory guidelines are sufficient to "enable the agency and the courts to determine whether the agency is carrying out the legislature's intent," thereby satisfying the test in *DOI v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist.*, 438 So. 2d 815, 819 (Fla. 1983). These standards constitute a legislatively determined fundamental policy choice by the legislature, not an open-ended delegation of authority. *B.H. v. State*, 645 So. 2d 987, 994 (Fla. 1994).

Ch. 403, Fla. Stat., Contains Reasonably Definite Standards Showing That the Legislature Has Made the Fundamental Policy Decisions with Regard to Dredge and Fill Permitting

In the enactment of the dredge and fill permitting program within DEP, the legislature has made the fundamental policy decisions and merely left the implementation of those policies to the agency. This is a valid delegation of administrative authority.

Section 403.021, Fla. Stat., contains a legislative declaration of policy regarding prevention of pollution of the waters of the state and regulation of activities which could cause such pollution. Section 403.061(14), Fla. Stat., specifically empowers the Department to establish a permit program for any installation which may be a source of pollution and section 403.062, Fla. Stat., grants the Department general control and supervision of the waters of the State. Generally, the Department is granted authority to issue permits in section 403.087, Fla. Stat. Permits must be denied if a proposed discharge will reduce water quality below the established classification, and permits must "contain such additional conditions, requirements, and restrictions as the department deems necessary to preserve and protect the quality of the receiving waters." § 403.088(2)(c)3., Fla. Stat. The legislature even provided exceptions to the permitting requirements for

certain types of projects. § 403.813, Fla. Stat.¹

Dredging and filling are defined in section 403.911, Fla. Stat. (1991)(now

§ 373.403, Fla. Stat.), as :

(2) The Term "Dredging" means excavation, by any means, in waters. It also means the excavation, or creation, of a water body which is, or is to be, connected to waters, directly or via an excavated water body or series of excavated water bodies.

(4) The term "Filling" means the deposition, by any means, of materials in waters.

The legislature provided criteria for activities in the waters of the State in section

403.918, Fla. Stat. (1991)(now 373.414, Fla. Stat.), as follows:

(1) A permit may not be issued under ss. 403.91-403.929 unless the applicant provides the department with reasonable assurance that water quality standards will not be violated. The department, by rule, shall establish water quality criteria for wetlands within its jurisdiction, which criteria give appropriate recognition to the water quality of such wetlands in their natural state.

(2) A permit may not be issued under ss. 403.91-403.929 unless the applicant provides the department with reasonable assurance that the project is not contrary to the public interest. However, for a project which significantly degrades or is within an Outstanding Florida Water, as provided by department rule, the applicant must provide reasonable assurance that the project will be clearly in the public interest.

¹ Some of the exempted projects must use turbidity curtains, identical to the specific condition violated by the defendants below. §§ 403.813(2)(f) and (g), Fla. Stat.

(a) In determining whether a project is not contrary to the public interest, or is clearly in the public interest, the department shall consider and balance the following criteria:

1. Whether the project will adversely affect the public health, safety, or welfare or the property of others;

2. Whether the project will adversely affect the conservation of fish and wildlife, including endangered or threatened species, or their habitats;

3. Whether the project will adversely affect navigation or the flow of water or cause harmful erosion or shoaling;

4. Whether the project will adversely affect the fishing or recreational values or marine productivity in the vicinity of the activity;

5. Whether the project will be of a temporary or permanent nature;

6. Whether the project will adversely affect or will enhance significant historical and archaeological resources under the provisions of Sec. 267.061; and

7. The current condition and relative value of functions being performed by areas affected by the proposed project.

÷

(b) If the applicant is unable to otherwise meet the criteria set forth in this subsection, the governing board or the department, in deciding to grant or deny a permit, shall consider measures proposed by or acceptable to the applicant to mitigate adverse effects which may be caused by the project.

The rules of the Department flesh these standards out by providing the procedural and substantive standards that a permit applicant must meet to provide "reasonable assurances" that water quality standards will not be violated and that the project is not contrary to the public interest..

The courts have upheld several statutes with standards far more vague and less detailed than those found in these statutes as proper constitutional delegations of authority. In Florida Gas Transmission Company v. Public Service Commission, 635 So. 2d 941, 944 (Fla. 1994), the dispute centered on the Florida Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Siting Act, §§ 403.9401-25, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992), which was enacted to ensure that construction and maintenance of the pipelines would only produce a minimal adverse effect on the environment and the public welfare. One way for the PSC to implement this legislative goal was to make the determination whether there existed a need for an additional gas pipeline in Florida. Florida Gas contended that the portion of the statute conferring authority on the PSC to determine this need based on "other matters within its jurisdiction deemed relevant to the determination of need," is so lacking in guidelines as to be an unconstitutional delegation of authority. Id. at 944. But the Supreme Court upheld the statute stating that the guidelines were sufficient to limit the Commission's authority and did not constitute an unbridled delegation of authority. Id. at 945.

A number of Florida statutes authorize regional planning councils to implement the legislature's policy of administering Development of Regional Impact (DRI) reviews and charging of fees for such reviews. §§ 160.02(12), 163.01(5)(h), 380.06(22)(c), Fla. Stat. (1983). The planning councils were to implement the process by setting the cost for each applicant's review. The statutes' language permitting an agency to "fix and collect ... fees when appropriate" for development of regional impact applications was challenged as an unconstitutional delegation of authority. *Apalachee Reg. Planning Council v. Brown*, 546 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) *affirmed* 560 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 1990). The *Apalachee* court upheld the delegation and stated that the statute's standards were sufficient to enable the agency and the courts to determine whether the agency is carrying out the legislature's intent. *Id.*, 546 So. 2d at 454. The court held that the fees levied were merely the implementation of a fundamental legislative policy decision. *Id.* at 453.

In *Jones v. Department of Revenue*, 523 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the methodology used by the Department of Revenue in estimating the level of tax assessment in a county was challenged as an unlawful delegation of legislative authority. The intent of the statute section is to determine the amount a district is required to provide annually towards the cost of education. *Id.* at 1212. In years without in-depth assessment reviews, DOR was required by statute to estimate levels of county tax assessment based upon "the best information available, utilizing professionally accepted methodology." § 195.096(3)(b), Fla. Stat., (1987). The court approved of DOR's use of subjective methodology to determine the estimates and held that the standards set out in the statute provided sufficient guidelines to the agency and constituted a lawful delegation of authority. *Id.* at 1214.

Finally, the 4th DCA recently upheld the validity of a delegation of administrative authority in *Marine Industries v. DEP*, 672 SO. 2d 878 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The statutory standard for imposition of boat speed limits was in § 370.12(2)(n), Fla. Stat., which provides:

The department may designate by rule other portions of state waters where manatees are frequently sighted and it can be assumed that manatees inhabit such waters periodically or continuously. Upon designation of such waters, the department shall adopt rules to regulate motorboat speed and operation which are necessary to protect manatees from harmful collisions with motorboats and from harassment.

Analyzing the above quoted language, this court held that:

[T]he Department is not the lawgiver but acting as the administrator of the law. We therefore hold that the statute is not an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power to an executive agency.

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